THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

IN THE MATTER OF: THE HONORABLE LOUISE E. GOLDSTON, JUDGE OF THE 13TH FAMILY COURT CIRCUIT SUPREME COURT NO. 20-0742 JIC COMPLAINT NOS. 30-2020 33-2020

E MAY JUDICIAL DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL'S BRIEF

Respectfully submitted,

Teresa A. Tarr, No. 5631 Brian J. Lanham, No. 7736 Judicial Disciplinary Counsel City Center East, Suite 1200A 4700 MacCorkleAvenue SE Charleston, WV 25304 (304) 558-0169 (304) 558-0831 (fax)

teresa.tarr:@courtswv.gov brian.lanhan:@courtswv.gov

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent is a 1984 graduate of the West Virginia University College of Law. Before becoming a judge, Respondent engaged in the practice of law in Southern West Virginia. Respondent believed that 30 to 40% of her practice involved domestic relations law (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 26). She also did some federal work and "a lot of" property work (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 5). In her time as a practicing attorney, Respondent never requested a home view in any domestic relations case despite her belief that one family law master in her jurisdiction may have engaged in the custom (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 26-27).

In 1994, Respondent was appointed to serve as family law master by then Governor Gaston Caperton. She has served continuously as a family law master and a family court judge since that time. At all relevant times during the allegations set forth below, Respondent served as a Judge of the Family Court Circuit. She has not been the subject of any prior discipline.

During her time on the bench, Respondent visited litigants' homes to either determine if certain disputed marital property was present and/or to supervise the transfer of the disputed property. Respondent alleges that she made these visits on eleven different occasions during the past twenty years.¹ According to Respondent, the majority of the home visits were prompted by oral motion of one party's attorney without objection (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 14-15). After granting the motion, Respondent would meet the parties at the home.

Respondent acknowledged that the criteria for going to a party's home was largely based

on the consent of both parties and/or the loss of items carrying sentimental value (Joint Exhibit

No. 6 at 30-31; 45-46). Concerning the lawyer's request, Respondent testified:

- Q. You said the word was out after you'd done this a few times that you better be truthful or else:
- A. Well, let me rephrase that -
- Q. Okay
- A. -- the lawyers the lawyers love that I do this because it enables them to say, you know, be truthful in your disclosure because if you try to hide something, she might go out and look for it.
- Q. Doesn't that put the lawyer, the parties who are represented by lawyers at an unfair advantage because they're aware of this while the pro se litigants are not.
- A. Possibly. But again, that's only happened twice that the pro se's have been
- Q. And how do you decide when it's appropriate to do when it's not appropriate? You say 95 percent of the cases, you don't do it. In five percent of the or 11 cases, you've decided to do it. What are the criteria for doing it versus not doing it?
- A. Generally, it's the attorney asks me to do it, and there appears to me and, again, it's generally agreed to that if I don't do it, the party without the asset they are awarded is not going to get it any other way.
- Q. So just by what I am hearing you say, it does put individuals with lawyers at an advantage because they know to ask while pro-se litigants do not know to ask. Would you agree with that statement?
- Yes, Except I'll make this caveat, the two pro se cases where I've been, one being Gibson and one being I can't believe I can't remember that name I don't see it anyway, both had been represented by counsel at one time.
- Q But you would agree that if pro-se litigants came before you and knew about this, you might've been doing it more than 11 times, correctly I mean is that correct?
- A. Maybe, but I doubt it.
- Q. So, it's only when lawyers so the benchmark for deciding when to go and when not to go is when the lawyers ask for it?

¹ During a March 4, 2020 hearing in *Gibson*, Respondent stated that "I do this probably two or three times a year and we have jury views all the time" (Exhibit A to JDC's 2/16/2021 Brief at 65).

A. The benchmark, generally, is if the lawyers agree to go, agree that I should go.

(Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 30-31).

Beginning in 2017, Respondent presided over a divorce case styled *In re Gibson*, Raleigh County Civil Case No. 17-D-655-G. The Second Amended Corrected Final Order of Divorce was entered on June 19, 2019. In that Order, the Court noted:

The parties divided their household furnishings by agreement which is represented by a four-page exhibit entered before the Court and attached hereto. Each page is initialed and dated by the parties. The circled items are Respondents [Matt Gibson]. The items not circled items are the Petitioners [Carrie Gibson] The parties shall cooperate to set a time and date for the Petitioner to pick up said items. The Petitioner may bring others to help her move the items.

On or about September 26, 2019, the ex-wife filed a Petition for Contempt against her husband.

On March 4, 2020, during a contempt hearing an allegation arose that Mr. Gibson failed to follow through with Court ordered counseling for a minor child (Exhibit A at 13-19). The ex-wife also asserted that Mr. Gibson negligently damaged marital property he was ordered to turn over to her (Exhibit A at 19-44). Lastly, the ex-wife alleged that Mr. Gibson failed to turn over several items of sentimental value (Exhibit A at 44-62). Mr. Gibson represented himself *pro se*² at the hearing while the ex-wife was represented by Attorney Kyle Lusk. The ex-wife and Mr. Gibson intended to call at least three or four witnesses each at hearing (Exhibit A at 69).

Since the contempt petition was brought by the ex-wife, she bore the burden of proof at hearing and was the first to take the stand and testify (Exhibit A at 13). Following her testimony

² Respondent asked Mr. Gibson if he knew he could have an attorney with him. He replied, "I didn't know I could have a court-appointed attorney" (Exhibit A at 4). Respondent then told him he would have to "hire one" (Exhibit A at 4-5). Respondent countered that he thought "any time the opposing counsel would threaten jail time, that it could be considered for a court appointed [attorney]" (Exhibit A at 5) Respondent replied, "Well, you're not going to get jail time" (Exhibit A at 5). Attorney Lusk then interjected, "Well, I would certainly like for him to" (Exhibit A at 5). Mr. Gibson said that he would like a court-appointed attorney and Mr. Lusk said he had no objection. However, when Respondent explained that it would delay the proceedings, Mr. Gibson waived his right to counsel (Exhibit A at 20-21).

concerning the counseling issue, the Court believed the matter moot except for purposes of whether the ex-wife could ask for attorney fees (Exhibit A at 15). The ex-wife then gave lengthy testimony about the purported damage done to marital property (Exhibit A at 19-44). Her attorney also introduced into evidence photographic evidence of the alleged damage as well as an email about the place and time when the ex-wife could retrieve the property (Exhibit A at 19-44).

The ex-wife then testified about Mr. Gibson's alleged failure to provide her with certain sentimental items. Her attorney also introduced some exhibits into evidence in support of the claim (Exhibit A at 44-62). At some point, the ex-wife's attorney asked her the following:

- Q. Ma'am do you want those items?
- A. Yes, I do.
- Q. Where do you believe those items are?
- A. They're in the house.
- Q. If we were to go over to the house right now, would you be able to find them quickly?
- A. If they were in the same spot when I left, yes.

(Exhibit A at 49) (emphasis added).

The ex-wife testified about the issue for thirteen more pages before the Judge suddenly and

without warning stated:

Mr. Gibson:	I made copies from Staples and I sent you all those.	
The Court:	Do you - that was not what the order said. Where do you live?	
Mr. Gibson:	I live in 113 Quiet Oak Street in Beaver.	
The Court:	Say it again.	
Mr. Gibson:	113 Quite Oak Street, Beaver, West Virginia.	
The Court:	All right. We're all going to meet there in ten minutes. Have you got anybody that's got a truck?	
Ms. Gibson:	Just leave my stuff right there? Yeah. Yeah.	
The Court:	t: If you do, go get them. You do not have to pack up your stul Nobody will be in here until we get back or whatever. Okay?	

(Exhibit A at 62-63) (emphasis added). The parties then went off the record at approximately

10:34 a.m. or 1 hour and 5 minutes into the hearing (Joint Hearing Exhibit No. 5). The hearing

transcript clearly demonstrates that Respondent never explained to Mr. Gibson the purpose of the

recess or gave him any opportunity to object in the courtroom.

Once everyone arrived at Mr. Gibson's home and the purpose of the visit became clear,

Mr. Gibson moved to recuse Respondent on the ground that she had become a potential witness in

the case. Respondent denied the motion as untimely:

Mr. Gibson:	I am asking you right now I am putting in a motion to recuse yourself because you are putting yourself in a witness capacity instead of a judicial capacity. There is no search warrant. I need a list of everything we're looking for.	
The Court:	You have a list of everything we are looking for attached to the order.	
Mr. Gibson:	Not today. Not today. I don't know where some of it's at.	
The Court:	Well, we're going to find it. Your motion's denied. It's not timely filed.	
Mr. Gibson:	I need a search warrant. You won't get in my house without a search warrant.	
The Court:	Oh yeah, I will.	

(Joint Exhibit No. 3 video from 1: 25 to 1:45) (emphasis added).

The group remained outside for a short time while the Judge looked at a disputed swing.

The judge then reiterated to Mr. Gibson that she was going in the house:

The Court:	Now, you're either gonna let me in that house or he's gonna arrest you for direct – are you recording this?
Mr. Gibson:	Yes, ma'am.
The Court:	Take his phone. You're not allowed to record this.
Mr. Gibson:	Don't take my phone, sir.
The Court:	The girlfriend's recording too. Turn off your phones. I'll take you to jail if you don't turn them off. You understand that.
Unknown:	unintelligible
The Court:	Put it up. Give him the phone or your going to be arrested.
Mr. Gibson:	I can record on my land.
The Court:	You cannot.
Mr. Gibson:	This is my land ma'am.
The Court:	I am the judge. I am trying to effect equitable distribution. We're having a hearing. Now, you let me in that house or he is going to arrest you for being in direct contempt of court.
Mr. Lusk: Mr. Gibson:	I don't think the phone's off, your honor. unintelligible.

The Court:	Let the officer check the phone.	
Unknown:	Oh, it was on.	
The Court:	It was on.	
Mr. Gibson:	No. My phone's not off. It was on.	The recording's off.

(Joint Exhibit No. 3 video at 2:37 to 3:41) (emphasis added). The recording stopped at that moment when Mr. Gibson felt he had no choice but to relent.

Once inside, Respondent's bailiff, on his own initiative and without the approval of the Court, used his phone to record both video and audio of the separation of marital assets (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 81, 83). Respondent acknowledged that Mr. Gibson had already turned over most of the disputed items on the list (Exhibit B video attached hereto and made a part hereof at 1:45). She also told the ex-wife that "I can't let you search [for particular items] unless you have some idea of where they might be" (Exhibit B video at 2:32). When they went downstairs to go through DVDs, Respondent sat down in a rocking chair uninvited and remained there while Mr. Gibson and the bailiff went to look at the gun cabinet for some other items (Exhibit B at 3:27 to 6:09). The bailiff only recorded seven minutes of the household search (Exhibit B). However, the search lasted a total of 20 to 30 minutes (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 80).

The parties returned to the Courtroom and went back on the record at 11:48 a.m. (Joint Exhibit No. 8). No more testimony was taken at the hearing (Exhibit A at 63-72). Instead, the Court stated:

I will state on the record that we did a home view of the marital property, the marital real estate that was awarded to Mr. Gibson in the divorce. And at that view, Ms. Gibson was able to obtain the following items that were awarded to her in the final order: the 16 x 20 canvas photo of B, the four pictures on the wall in the dining room, her handwritten recipes, all of your yearbooks. We didn't look for the original picture of B, three picture collage....

Now, while we were at – on scene, Mr. Gibson made an oral motion to recuse me, stating that he believed that I was making myself a witness in the case. I disagree because I do this probably two or three times a year and we have jury views all the time. However, we're not going to get much more done today, Mr. Gibson. So, if

you want to follow up on that Motion to Recuse, you should do it at least 20 days before we come back for the conclusion of this hearing.

(Exhibit A at 63-65).

Respondent next explained the process of filing a motion to disqualify after Mr. Gibson

stated it was "[a]bsolutely going to happen:"

The Court:	I will send your motion and my thoughts on it and basically what I always put in this is I don't think I'm prejudice, but I'll leave it to the Court to make the decision. It goes to the Supreme Court.
Mr. Gibson:	Cool.
The Court:	The Supreme Court will make a decision on whether or not I should be removed from the case.
Mr. Gibson:	Right.
The Court:	And just so the record's clear, not only do I think I'm not a witness, but I do not believe your Motion to Recuse was timely filed. It generally has to be filed seven days ahead of hearing. I understand your position that you didn't know I was going to the house, so you didn't know that that might be an issue.
Mr. Gibson:	No.
Mr. Gibson:	Supreme Court and the JIC Committee will be notified.
The Court:	Excuse me?
Mr. Gibson:	The JIC Committee, that's also, right, is that part of the -
The Court:	If you want to file an ethics complaint against me, yes, sir, the JIC. It's the Judicial Investigation Commission.
Mr. Gibson:	Right. Yes, ma'am.
The Court:	But I will tell you, also that your filing of Judicial Investigation complaint against me –
Mr. Gibson:	Yes, ma'am.
The Court:	is not grounds for my recusal.
Mr. Gibson:	And that's cool.
The Court	That's been - that's well-established law.

(Exhibit A at 65-67) (emphasis added).

Later that same day, Respondent for the first time became aware that the bailiff had used

his cell phone to record a portion of what happened inside the Gibson house (Joint Exhibit No. 6

at 81). The bailiff sent her a copy of the video via text (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 81-83, 91).

Respondent testified:

I still to this day [the date of Respondent's sworn statement] have not viewed it because I didn't think it – first of all, I didn't know I was going to stay in the case. I didn't think it was proper for him to do that, and I don't think I told him I thought it was improper. I just was not going to withhold it from the JIC. It was something that was provided to me, so I provided it to you but I still to this day have not viewed it.

(Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 82). Respondent further stated:

I didn't believe it was properly taken, and I didn't know whether or not I was going to continue on the case, and so I considered it improper evidence for me to see and consider.

(Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 92). Respondent also testified that she told the bailiff not to do it again

(Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 104).

Two days after the home visit, Mr. Gibson's video went viral on YouTube (Exhibit No. 6

at 94). On March 11, 2020, the Judicial Investigation Commission ("JIC") opened Complaint No.

30-2020 against Respondent. On March 18, 2020, Mr. Gibson filed Complaint No. 33-2020. The

JIC immediately began an investigation into the complaints. Respondent filed a written response

to the complaints on March 18, 2020. Much of what Respondent wrote in her response required

further explanation. However, her reasoning for not allowing the Respondent to record what

happened at the house was clear:

In regard to prohibiting Respondent from recording the proceedings at Respondent's house, the Court was relying on Rule 8 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure for Family Court which is titled "unofficial Recordings of Proceedings."

(Joint Exhibit No, 4 at 2). Rule 8 is the same reason Respondent gave for her belief that the bailiff's recording was also inappropriate (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 82-83).

Meanwhile, Mr. Gibson filed a Motion to Disqualify Respondent citing the events of March 4 as the reason (Exhibit No, 6 at 93-94). Respondent transmitted the motion to the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court along with the videos (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 93-94). She took no position on the motion (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 93-94). Based upon information and belief, Respondent also informed the Chief Justice that she would not allow Mr. Gibson to record the proceedings because of Rule 8 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of Family Court. The Chief Justice disqualified Respondent from continuing to preside over the matter (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 94). Respondent said she wasn't surprised at her disqualification because "at that point, it had blown up so much in the media and that kind of thing that I figured they'd take me off of it" (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 94).

On July 22, 2020, JDC took Respondent's sworn statement. When asked Respondent, with her vast experience in family law, could provide no statute, rule or case that gave her the authority to conduct home visits. Respondent admitted that she never had any clear or written procedures for conducting a home visit, including but not limited to, when the proceeding should be utilized and how the process should take place.

Respondent raised three defenses to the allegations: (1) the "home view" was similar to a jury view and therefore permissible; (2) the contempt powers authorized her to take such action; and (3) mutual consent of the parties.

Jury View

Respondent said that she never recorded home visits even though she considered it a part of the proceeding (Exhibit 6 at 20). Respondent likened home visits to a jury view:

- Q. Based on what you just told Ms. Tarr a few moments ago, you see the home visits as a continuation of the contempt hearing is that correct:
- A. I view it more as and maybe my thinking s wrong, but I view it more as a jury view because I am a judge and jury in these cases.
- Q. But you would agree in a jury view, they take either a court reporter or someone along to record what's going on?
- A. Yes. And I'm not saying that's not a concern. It has always been a concern, but to be frank with you, I didn't know how to deal with it because we don't have court reporters and I can't take my computer to record it.

- Q. Well, certainly, you would agree now that you could have gotten a handheld recorder or your cellphone to record it at least, if the parties had agreed to that; is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- ...
- Q. But whether you view it as a jury view or whether you view it as part of the contempt proceeding, you would agree that it is the continuation of a court matter, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And so, because it was a continuation of a court matter, you would agree that it should have been recorded, correct?

A. Yes.

- Q. Okay.
- A. In the best of world, yes.

...

- Q. But you agree it should have been recorded in some fashion.
- A. Yes.
- Q. And by recording it, it might've taken you out of being a witness, correct?
- A. Yes.

(Exhibit No. 6 at 22-25).

The following colloquy occurred over W. Va. Code § 56-6-17, the statute governing jury

views:

- Q. Is it your testimony that that's the code section that you were following to give you the authority to go view the scene; is that accurate.
- A. Yes, but I'll I mean I'm not going I'm not sure I ever read that to go by. In my mind, that was the authority that I thought I had... And, again, as in my response, if I don't, I don't. I'm sorry. I won't do it again.
- Q. In the case law underneath it, I put a Post It note by it, there's a Westover Volunteer Fire Department versus Barker case.
- A. Uh-huh.
- Q. Can you read what it says?
- A. "There is no statutory authority for a trial judge trying a case in lieu of a jury to take a view." I was not aware of that case, but I can tell you when I was practicing law, I was trying a horrible case over whether or not repairs to a roof were done correctly, and I asked the judge to go and look and he did. And he was mad.

(Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 34-35). Respondent also admitted that she never spoke to anyone at the JIC, the Supreme Court, or any other judge about the process before implementing it in her courtroom until after the Gibson video went viral (Joint Exhibit No. 6 at 20-21, 36, 48-50).

Contempt Powers

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