IN THE MATTER OF: THE HONORABLE LOUISE E. GOLDSTON JUDGE OF THE 13<sup>TH</sup> FAMILY COURT CIRCUIT SUPREME COURT NO. 20-0742 JIC COMPLAINT NOS. 30-2020 33-2020

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

BRIEF OF THE HONORABLE LOUISE E. GOLDSTON, JUDGE OF THE 13<sup>TH</sup> FAMILY COURT CIRCUIT



Respectfully submitted,

Andrew S. Nason (WVSB No. 2707) Pepper & Nason 8 Hale Street Charleston, WV 25301 (304) 346-0361

##

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

Respondent received an unsigned complaint from the JDC setting forth the bare facts shown in the video that was posted by Mr. Gibson's attorney. Attached to the complaint were the comments that had been posted on Mr. Gibson's attorney's site. Mr. Gibson filed a complaint March 18, 2020. (See paragraph 3 of the Formal Statement of Charges). Within ten (10) days, as required by the Rules of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure, Respondent filed her answer to the complaint. Respondent also listed any and all witnesses to the events surrounding the judicial complaint.

JDC then began their investigation. Respondent was informed that the investigation was confidential pursuant to Rule 2.4 of the Rules of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure, and she could not speak with anyone about the charge. Respondent was informed that she did not need a lawyer unless and until an agreement could not be reached between the JDC and Respondent.

On July 22, 2020, Respondent appeared at the offices of the JDC in response to a request for an interview. However, Respondent was sworn to give a sworn statement. (See paragraph number 9, page 3 of the Formal Statement of Charges). During that statement, JDC Brian Lanham showed Respondent a sentence highlighted on a page of a reported case, which indicated that there existed no statute which allowed for a judicial officer to conduct a view. As soon

as Respondent read the statement, the page was retrieved from her and she was asked if she was aware of that holding. Respondent indicated that she was not aware of that holding. During Respondent's practice of law, she litigated two different cases in which judicial views had been taken.

Respondent was handed one statute regarding the family court's contempt powers; she was asked to read it and point out any provision of that particular statute which permitted her to conduct a judicial view. Respondent could not find any provision in that particular statute allowing it. Respondent's statement taken that day was taken without counsel and without notice that the interview would be under oath. At the end of the statement, after the recording had been turn off, the JDC counsel reassured Respondent that both she and JDC Lanham thought Respondent was a good judge but had just "messed up" this time, and that Respondent had acted with good intent and with a good heart.

On or about September 15, 2020, after the JIC had its regular meeting, at which Respondent's matter was presented, Respondent received a phone call from the JDC stating that the JIC was asking that Respondent be suspended from the bench for a short time. The formal statement of charges was signed September 18, 2020 by Judge Alan D. Moats. Inasmuch as JDC had never explained with any detail how Respondent had violated the Canons, and Respondent's belief that she had acted judiciously and in good faith, Respondent was shocked. The formal charges were mailed to Respondent September 22, 2020 by JDC Lanham. Because Respondent has been a public servant for over 30 years, and has no substantial wealth, she informed the JDC that a suspension would force her immediate retirement as she could not financially survive a suspension.

Thereafter, JDC called once again and stated that the JIC would settle for a censure and a \$5,000.00 fine. In order to save her job, which she has performed without incident or discipline for nearly 27 years, she tentatively agreed to that punishment. The formal statement of charges was filed on September 23, 2020. When Respondent received the proposed statement of charges, she inquired of the JDC when she would receive a document that would

detail how she had violated each specific rule and/or canon alleged. The JDC informed Respondent that "We don't do it that way." Respondent then expressed reluctance at admitting to the violations and asked if she could admit to the facts but not the violations, she was expressly told no.

Respondent then contacted her present counsel to discuss the charges and proposed agreement.

Before retaining current counsel, and shortly after Respondent's call from the JDC, Respondent received from the JDC what was characterized by the JDC as a "strong arm" call. Respondent was informed that it was in her best interest to enter into this agreement. Respondent informed the JDC that she had conferred with her present counsel and was considering retaining with him and would discuss that option with him. The JDC informed Respondent that if Respondent didn't enter into an agreement, the JDC would be "forced to do their job" and the JDC was very good at it.

Respondent then retained present counsel. Counsel and the JDC negotiated a removal of the Section 3 violations from the settlement and Respondent entered into the agreement.

Thereafter, Respondent submitted a prehearing statement served December 28, 2020. It contained as attachments a copy of the First Amended Corrected Final Order, the Second Amended Corrected Final Order, the Rule 22 Notice and the agreed upon personal property list. Mr. Gibson submitted a prehearing statement that contained allegations which were not part of the official statement of charges to which Respondent and the JDC objected. The objection was sustained.

On January 15, 2021, the Judicial Hearing Board (hereinafter the "JHB") met in this case and the agreement was presented, Respondent admitted the facts alleged and the violations set forth in the agreement. Respondent testified that she did so voluntarily and willingly, believing it to be, at the time, the only way to keep doing a job she loves. At said hearing, Family Court Judge Glen Stotler attempted to ask the JDC about her rationale for determining that Respondent had acted improperly. JDC Tarr defended the JDC's position.

Respondent had gone back on the record in the court room of the Raleigh County Family Court after the view and memorialized what had happened. Ms. Tarr disclosed that she was in possession of the hearing recording and provided a copy to the JHB.

After the January 15, 2021 hearing, on January 18, 2021 JDC Tarr filed a motion to disqualify Judge Stotler, alleging bias based on the fact that Judge Stotler disagreed with JDC Tarr on the law applicable to the actions of Respondent. Judge Stotler subsequently denied the motion to disqualify. On or about January 19, 2021, the JHB issued a Post Hearing Order that requested the JIC and Respondent answer twelve (12) questions to assist the JHB in deciding whether or not to accept the agreement. Both Respondent and the JDC timely filed their brief attempting to answer those questions as was their ethical duty. Respondent then timely filed a reply brief.

On or about March 15, 2021, the JHB issued its Recommended Decision, finding that the punishment agreed to was too harsh and should be reduced to an admonishment and a One Thousand Dollar (\$1,000.00) fine. In its reasons for lowering the punishment, the JHB stated among its reasons that "Finally, while there is no statutory authority for the Respondent's actions, it is unclear whether or not her conduct was within her inherent authority and judges would benefit from guidance from the Supreme Court in the form of rule-making or otherwise on this issue."

Despite that the agreement entered into which states that the parties agree that they are bound by the decisions of the JHB and the Supreme Court of Appeals, within hours of receiving the Recommended Decision, JDC Tarr sent an email to all parties informing them of the JDC's intent to object to the Recommended Decision. Thereafter the JDC filed an objection and asked for costs when it previously stipulated there were no costs incurred. The objection also raised the issue of whether Respondent's briefing answering questions posed by the JHB signified a lack of remorse. Respondent's position that she will stand by the written agreement has never wavered. But JDC has argued the fact

that Respondent complied with the JHB's briefing order as evidence of a lack of cooperation by Respondent.

It is the JHB's and the Supreme Court of Appeal's duty under the Rules of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure to ascertain whether the agreement is fair and appropriate as well as whether Respondent violated the Canons of Ethics. Respondent thereafter filed an objection to preserve her ability to fully argue her position before this court and support the JHB ruling. Respondent stands ready to accept the terms of the agreement or the decision directed by the JHB and the Supreme Court of Appeals. She further believes that lack of clarity of the law concerning judicial views as recognized by the JHB should be taken fully into this court's consideration.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter arises out of a view by Respondent of Matthew Gibson's home on March 4, 2020, in the post final order proceedings of In Re the Marriage of Carrie Gibson and Matthew Gibson, Civil Action Number 2017-D-655, Family Court of Raleigh County, West Virginia. The divorce litigation was resolved by agreement of the parties. (See Orders attached the Respondent's December 28, 2020 Statement to the JHB). Included in the parties' agreement was a list of personal property to be divided between the parties, which represented a negotiated resolution and was submitted to the court on the day of the final hearing. (See attached list to the Respondent's December 28, 2020 Statement to the JHB). The court marked the agreement as Joint Exhibit 1. That exhibit itemized the items that Husband (Mr. Gibson) was to receive, which were circled, and the items that Wife (Mrs. Gibson) was to receive, which were highlighted. A Final Order of Divorce was entered in that case on April 23, 2019, and an Amended Final Order was entered on June 11, 2019. The Orders incorporated the parties' agreements, including the personal property division and the provision that Mrs. Gibson could utilize third parties to come to the former marital home to aid her retrieval of those items. The Family Court accepted the agreement on the date of the final hearing, September 18, 2018 and it was made

a part of the record. The Court found that the agreement was fair and reasonable under the circumstances and that both parties had entered into the agreement knowingly, voluntarily and of their own free will. Mr. Gibson at that time was represented by counsel. The Order also included a provision that Mrs. Gibson could bring persons with her to the former marital home to aid her in the retrieval of her property.

On October 1, 2019, Mrs. Gibson filed a petition for contempt, alleging that Mr. Gibson failed to turn over several items of property she was awarded, and further that he had set out other items of personal property at the bottom of the driveway in the rain, causing them to either be damaged or destroyed. Mr. Gibson filed an answer on October 22, 2019, denying the allegations and he requested the court dismiss the petition for contempt.

On December 4, 2019, a hearing was scheduled on the petition for contempt. Mr. Kyle G. Lusk appeared on behalf of Mrs. Gibson and stated that he had video and pictures that had not been turned over to Mr. Gibson and that Mr. Gibson was entitled to see those exhibits prior to proceeding on the petition for contempt. (*Transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 pp 8-9*). Mr. Lusk turned those exhibits over to Mr. Gibson in open court. Respondent Judge continued the hearing in order to allow both parties to turn over any other exhibits or discovery that they intended to introduce into evidence. The Court set a date for that disclosure to be made; at the March 4, 2020 hearing, Mr. Lusk admitted to filing the disclosure three (3) days late. (*Transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 pp 9-10*).

Mr. Gibson moved the Court to dismiss the petition due to the late filing of the disclosure; the same was denied. (Transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 pp 5-10). The Court determined the most judicious resolution of that attorney error was to grant Mr. Gibson an opportunity for a continuance so that he could thoroughly prepare for that hearing. Mr. Gibson declined a continuance and then asked for a court-appointed attorney to represent him on the contempt allegation. (Transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 pp 11-13). The Court explained

that he was entitled to an attorney to be present only if the Court anticipated incarcerating Mr. Gibson, and that the Court did not anticipate doing so. Mr. Lusk then stated that he had requested that Mr. Gibson be incarcerated. The Court then informed Mr. Gibson that he was entitled to have an attorney present and that the Court would appoint him an attorney if he qualified for one financially, and that if he did not, he would have to hire his representation at his own expense. The Court offered him the opportunity to fill out a financial affidavit; he declined and stated he did not want to delay the proceeding.

As the moving party, Mrs. Gibson testified to the issues set forth in the petition for contempt and presented photographic and video evidence that some of the items she was awarded in Joint Exhibit 1 were left at the bottom of the driveway at a time prior to the agreed exchange and that it was raining and many of the items were damaged or destroyed. (Transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 pp 19-44). She also listed several items that were not returned, including, but not limited to, a 16x20 canvas photo with a picture of it hanging in the former married home (Transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 p 44), certain photographs, high school yearbooks, children's baby boxes (Transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 pp 44-45), grandmother's recipes, DVDs, Blu-Rays, and an umbrella stand. Mr. Gibson then testified that he couldn't find the yearbooks and recipes, admitted that the DVDs and Blu-rays turned over did not amount to one-half (1/2) as set forth in the Joint Exhibit and (See transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 p. 56) admitted that he had not turned over the umbrella stand. He further stated under oath that during the final hearing, he was told that he could make copies of the photographs. (See transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 p 56). He admitted that the Order did not provide for making copies (See transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 p. 61). He further testified that since he couldn't get any local store to make copies of the photographs that fact relieved him of his obligation to turn over the photographs.

Mrs. Gibson was also awarded a set of handprints of one of the parties' children which was framed in a popsicle stick frame. (See transcript of hearing of

March 4, 2020 p 45). Mr. Gibson admitted that he had removed the handprints and just given Mrs. Gibson the popsicle stick frame. When questioned by the Court as to why he admitted that he took the handprints out of the frame, he stated "I do have--yes, I have that, yes I do" and "it's at the house." (Transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 p 61).

It became apparent to Respondent Judge that: 1) Mr. Gibson had admitted to contemptuous actions by knowingly deviating from the terms of the Final Order; 2) the Court's docket would not allow the parties to complete the presentation of the testimony in the cases; and 3) further delay of the remedy of Mrs. Gibson taking possession of property already awarded to her would result in further damage or destruction to the items she had been awarded at the final hearing eighteen (18) months before.

The Court then asked Mr. Gibson for his address and, after he informed the Court of where he lived, Respondent announced that the Court would recess and reconvene the hearing at Mr. Gibson's residence. (*Transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 p. 63*). Respondent told Mrs. Gibson that she could bring a truck owned by her (Mrs. Gibson's) dad to the residence to be able to accommodate the removal of the items.

Upon arrival at Mr. Gibson's residence, the parties and several other persons were present at the home. When Respondent and her bailiff exited the police vehicle, they were immediately confronted by Mr. Gibson with several motions. Those motions included a motion to disqualify, as Mr. Gibson believed Respondent was making herself a witness to the proceedings (*Transcript of hearing of March 4, 2020 pp 65-66*), and Mr. Gibson vehemently objected to Respondent entering his home to retrieve the items of property previously awarded to Mrs. Gibson, which he had admitted, under oath, were in the house. Respondent denied Mr. Gibson's motion to disqualify as untimely filed and directed Mr. Gibson to allow her into his residence. At that point, counsel for Mrs. Gibson pointed out that Mr. Gibson was recording the proceedings as was his girlfriend. Respondent then ordered Mr. Gibson and his girlfriend to stop

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